




T O W N  O F  Y A R M O U T H 
  1146 ROUTE 28, SOUTH YARMOUTH, MASSACHUSETTS 02664-4492 

Telephone (508) 398-2231, Ext. 1276, Fax (508) 398-2365 

  MEMORANDUM 
To:   Drive-In Site Utilization Committee (DISUC) 

cc: Karen Greene, Director of Community Development 

From:            Kathy Williams, Town Planner  

Date:  January 19, 2018 

Subject:   Riverwalk Park – Cost Information 

At the direction of the Drive-In Site Utilization Committee, Town Staff has worked with 
the Town’s consultant (BETA), to estimate construction, project development (“soft”) 
and maintenance costs associated with a Riverwalk Park at the former Drive-In Site 
property.  The cost estimates were based on the attached preferred Concept Plan for 
the Riverwalk Park and the attached materials list developed by the Drive-In Site 
Utilization Committee. 

Construction and Development Costs: 

Project costs for the Riverwalk Park are summarized below in the “Summary of Project 
Costs” table and are broken into separate estimates for the subdivision road and the 
Riverwalk Park to maximize alternative funding sources.  As the project is in the concept 
stage, a 25% contingency has been included, as well as a 5% escalation contingency 
for future construction in 2-3 years.  Being a Town project, state wage rates have also 
been included in the construction estimates.  Refer to the attached cost estimates dated 
January 17, 2018 for the “Subdivision Entrance Drive” and the “Riverwalk Park 
(Preferred Concept)” for a more detailed breakdown of construction costs.   

Also shown in the Summary of Project Costs table are development costs which include 
preliminary design, final design, permitting, bidding services and construction 
administration.  Please note, anticipated permits include the Massachusetts 
Environmental Policy Act (MEPA), Wetlands Notice of Intent, MA Dept of Environmental 
Protection (MassDEP) Chapter 91 License and Army Corps of Engineers 
Massachusetts Programmatic General Permit for the kayak dock.  Refer to the 
“Riverwalk Park (Preferred Concept) Soft Costs Estimate” attached for more detailed 
information. 

Planning 
Division 



 

Page 2 of 3 

Riverwalk Park Cost Information 
January 19, 2018 
 
 

 

SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS 
RIVERWALK PARK AND SUBDIVISION ROAD 

January 19, 2018 

        

DESCRIPTION 
SUBTOTAL

S TOTALS 
  CONSTRUCTION COSTS:     
  Subdivision Road - Opinion of Probable Construction Costs     
  Subdivision Road  $      877,150    
  25% Contingency  $      219,288    
  5% Escalation Contingency  $        43,858    

       $     1,140,295 

  Opinion of Probable Construction Costs - Riverwalk Park     
  Riverwalk Park & Woodland Paths  $   2,508,255    
  25% Contingency  $      627,064    
  5% Escalation Contingency  $      125,413    

  TOTAL ESTIMATED FOR OPINION OF PROBABLE CONSTRUCTION COSTS:  $     3,260,732 

  
DEVELOPMENT COSTS (design, permitting, bidding & 
construction administration):     

  Subdivision Road   $        55,000    
  Subdivision Permitting (existing contract)  $        15,624    
  Riverwalk Park  $      270,000    
  20% Development Contingency  $        68,125    

  TOTAL ESTIMATED FOR DEVELOPMENTS COSTS:  $        408,749 
        

  TOTAL ESTIMATED RIVERWALK DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION:  $     4,809,775 

 

Maintenance Costs: 

Utilizing knowledge of maintenance requirements at other Town facilities, Town Staff 
developed an estimate of average annual maintenance costs for the Riverwalk Park as 
outlined in the attached “Estimated Average Annual Maintenance Costs” table.  At 
approximately $31,000 per year, these maintenance costs could be partially offset with 
potential revenue sources such as leasing to a kayak vendor, rentals for kayak storage, 
special event fees, pay and display parking, adopt a park program and naming 
rights/sponsorships. 



 

Page 3 of 3 

Riverwalk Park Cost Information 
January 19, 2018 
 
 

Funding Sources: 

There are a variety of funding sources and grant opportunities for the park that will be 
investigated should the project move forward.  These include Community Preservation 
Act (CPA) funds, State Recreation Funds through the Division of Conservation 
Services, Seaport Grants, Transportation Funds, Parkland Acquisitions and 
Renovations for Communities (PARC) Grant Program, and MassDevelopment.  CPA 
funding often provides a source of matching funds required by other grant programs.   

 
Attachments: 

 Riverwalk Concept Plan – October 2017 
 Materials List for Riverwalk Park, updated September 20, 2017 
 1/17/2018 Subdivision Entrance Drive - Order of Magnitude Estimate (BETA) 
 1/17/2018 Riverwalk Park (Preferred Concept) – Order of Magnitude Estimate 

(BETA) 
 Riverwalk Park (Preferred Concept) Soft Costs Estimate (BETA) 
 1/16/218 Riverwalk Park Estimated Average Annual Maintenance Costs (Town 

Staff) 





Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk - Concept Plan
Yarmouth, MA October 2017





RIVERWALK PARK AND BOARDWALK 
MATERIALS LIST  

Updated September 20, 2017 
Element Materials Comments 

 

Page 1 of 4 
 

RIVERWALK PARK: 
Entrance Roadway  Traditional bituminous pavement with drainage 

system to meet WPA for treatment, recharge, peak 
attenuation, etc. 

 Traditional pavement chosen over impervious 
pavement due to potential for traffic from Lot 2 
and durability for turning movements.   

 All new utilities to come through entrance road 
and be buried. 

Pedestrian Crossings  Push-button pedestrian flashing beacon and crosswalk 
at Route 28 for safety. 

 Elevated walkways periodically throughout the 
parking lot to access Lot 2 and slow traffic. 

 

Parking Lot  Permeable Pavement.  Permeable pavement chosen to meet 
environmental regulations and eliminate the 
need for constructed drainage systems.  

Pathways  Permeable Pavement.  Permeable pavement chosen to meet 
environmental regulations, for durability, easy 
handicap accessibility and no drainage 
required.   

 Pathway widths should be minimum of 6’ 
wide, with 8’ preferable wherever permittable. 

Curbing/curb stops  Curb stops in parking areas next to pathways.  Curb stops to protect pedestrian pathway next 
to the parking areas from vehicles and 
overhanging bumpers. 

 No proposed curbing, keep it more natural/less 
formal. 

Restrooms 
 

 Traditional Restroom/info center designed for 
floodplain near entrance. 

 Portable toilet enclosure with roof near Kayak launch. 
 Include automatic timed locks for restrooms to close 

from dusk to dawn. 

 Restrooms to be locked at night using 
automatic system (similar to other public 
restrooms in Town). 



RIVERWALK PARK AND BOARDWALK 
MATERIALS LIST  

Updated September 20, 2017 
Element Materials Comments 

 

Page 2 of 4 
 

Trash Cans/Recycling  Bigbelly Solar Trash Compactor/Recycling 
Containers.  

 Locate 3 trash/recycling containers throughout 
the park where accessible by the trash truck. 

Lighting 

 

 Decorative Lighting – nautical theme, LED, max. 15’ 
high poles. 

 Lighting should be able to accommodate security 
cameras. 

 

 Consider use of solar powered lighting if the 
design moves forward, but price buried 
electrical lines for cost estimate. 

 Include 3 security cameras in the parking area 
attached to light posts. 

Gate at Entrance to Park  Decorative style (not a utilitarian barrier gate, but not 
elaborate). 

 May not be locked at all times. 

Landscaping  Include a variety of native species to reduce 
maintenance, to restore resource buffer areas, and 
foster butterfly and pollination areas.  Consider edible 
gardens. 

 Retain one large grass area for events, but reduce other 
areas requiring mowing.  Lawn event area to be 
irrigated. 

 Include water spigots around the park for watering and 
for drinking fountains. 

 Retain vistas from southern parking areas with low 
plantings. 

 Reduce number of trees that impact river views, 
increase visibility for security and reduce maintenance 
costs. 

 Use low lying shrubs to ensure lines of sight for 
security (<3’). 

 Use shrub species to deter access to unwanted areas 
(thorny or thick shrubs). 

 Low maintenance landscaping to meet the 
ecological restoration goals, maintain visibility 
of water views and for passive surveillance, 
include diverse plantings to foster 
butterfly/pollination areas and edible gardens. 

Pavilion at Lawn Area  Use fabric sails over permeable pavement pad (rather 
than structured pavilion). 

 Estimated area covered 20’x30’. 

 



RIVERWALK PARK AND BOARDWALK 
MATERIALS LIST  

Updated September 20, 2017 
Element Materials Comments 

 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Seating Options  Benches (locate some trees for shade near benches). 
 Casual seating such as boulders.  
 A few picnic tables near the lawn area. 

 Seating should be vandal-resistant and 
designed to prevent people from lying down 
(center handrail). 

Interactive/natural 
playscapes 

 Natural Materials for four (4) play-scape areas.  Include handicap accessibility 

Kayaks 
Vendor Trailer 
Leased Storage Space 
 

 Pervious Pavement Pad Area for private vendor. 
 Corral Area and Low Racks for leasing. 

 No rental locker proposed at this time. 

Interpretive Signage & 
Kiosks 

 Signage at the entrance to identify park rules/hours. 
 General tourist information board at restrooms. 
 Kayak safety education kiosk. 
 Interpretive signage at the Upweller, 

pollinating/butterfly areas, edible garden and along the 
river. 

 Consultant to determine materials and sizes for 
estimating purposes (include 8-10). 
 

 

Educational Elements  Included in interpretive signage above.  
Artist Shanties/Tents  None initially budgeted.  Provide area for tents for now and future 

shanties at a later date. 
Public Art  None initially budgeted.  Have separate source of funding for public art. 
Food Trucks  Utilize portion of parking lot – no special area.  Food Trucks for special events only can use a 

closed off section of the parking lot. 
  













Description Remarks

Bathroom Cleaning 5,250$                  1.5 hrs/day, 7 days per week, for 20 weeks @ $25/hr (3 stalls each side)
Porta‐john Cleaning 3,960$                  $165/month for 6 months for 4 Porta‐Johns
Porta‐john Rentals 2,800$                  $700 per season per Porta‐John for 4 Porta‐Johns (2 handicapped)
Bathroom Supplies ‐ weekly 2,400$                  $120 per week for 20 week season
Stock & Repair Materials 1,000$                  General stock and repair parts per season
Mowing and trimming 2,600$                  3 hours per week for 26 weeks @ $25/hr plus 26 hours/season for irrigation
Fertilizing 500$                     Lump sum per season for law areas only
Watering as needed (spigots) 1,000$                  2 hours/week for 20 weeks @$25/hr
Trash Removal 1,500$                  3 hours/week for 20 weeks @$25/hr
Lighting & Electrical Maintenance 2,400$                  Estimated costs ‐ LED lights
Line Striping 500$                     line striping once every 3 years
Stormwater ‐ Basin Cleaning 1,000$                  Cleaning of Subdivision drainage structures and infiltration structures
Stormwater ‐ Pervious Pavement  1,200$                  Sweeping of Parking twice per year
Pathway Maintenance 800$                     Periodic sweeping/sweeping
Septic Pumping 600$                     Pumping every other year
Structure Maintenance 2,000$                  Painting and repairs of park structures
Plowing & Salting 1,500.00$            $150 per event, estimated at 10 events per season

TOTAL: 31,010$            Estimated average  annual Riverwalk Park Maintenance Costs

Average Annual 
Maintenance 

Costs

RIVERWALK PARK
ESTIMATED AVERAGE ANNUAL MAINTENANCE COSTS

January 16, 2018

















 On __/__ /18, on a motion by ____________, seconded by ________, the committee voted 
____ to approve the minutes.  

 

 
Drive In Site Utilization Committee Minutes  December 7, 2017 

Page 1 of 3 

Town of Yarmouth 
 

MEETING MINUTES DRIVE-IN SITE UTILIZATION COMMITTEE MEETING OF  
December 7, 2017 

 
The Yarmouth Drive-In Site Utilization Committee (DISUC) held a Business Meeting at 4:00 p.m. 
on Thursday, December 7, 2017 in the Hearing Room of the Yarmouth Town Hall Offices located 
at 1146 Route 28, South Yarmouth, MA.  
 

Committee Members Present:  Jim Saben, David Reid (at 4:30), Rich Bilski, Jack McCormack, 
and Tom Roche 
 

Committee Members Absent:  Gerry Manning, Peter Slovak 
 

Committee Alternates Present:   Dave Helberg 
 

Staff: Karen Greene, Director of Community Development; Kathy Williams, Town Planner;  
Pat Armstrong, Director of Parks, Recreation, and Cemeteries. 
 

Other Attendees:  Please see the attached attendance list for members of the public who were in 
attendance.   
 
1. Boardwalk:   
 

Town Planner Kathy Williams reviewed the visualizations prepared by BETA and 
responded to questions.  Each of the three boardwalk options were presented from three 
different views from Cape Isle Drive (northwest, west, and southwest).  The representations 
used a 6’-wide boardwalk with flared wooden guardrails, 6’ above the marsh as per the 
Committee’s request.   

 
Ms. Williams suggested that the $15,000 originally set aside for the definitive subdivision be 
used to obtain two or three boring samples in order for BETA to provide a more realistic 
cost estimate for the project.  There was discussion of the relative value of so few samples. 

 
The Committee then discussed the benefits and drawbacks of the various proposals, and 
funding.  Mr. Roche noted that in 2020 the CPA distributions may change.  Ms. Williams 
explained that there are other funding sources that may be available.  It was agreed that  
Option 2 provides the most comprehensive pricing options, although it was noted that the 
boring samples may not be accurate for Option 3.   

 
Cost estimates for the Riverwalk should be available for the next meeting in January. 

 
 Ms. Williams was asked to proceed with obtaining incremental cost estimates for Option 2 

(loop, boardwalk, and bridge), and to negotiate as many borings as the $15,000 budget will 
allow.   

 
 Larry Fennelly reported on behalf of Brian Koelbel that the high tide level is at least two feet 

higher than as depicted.  He agreed, however, that the 6’ boardwalk height should be 
adequate.  

 
 Dave Helberg of Gateway Isles Association expressed concern about spending more 

money in order to get cost estimates.  Mr. Saben explained that the Committee will stay 



 On __/__ /18, on a motion by ____________, seconded by ________, the committee voted 
____ to approve the minutes.  

 

 
Drive In Site Utilization Committee Minutes  December 7, 2017 

Page 2 of 3 

within the $84,000 approved by Town Meeting.  If the Selectmen decide to move forward 
with the project, additional funding would be necessary, which would require Town Meeting 
approval.  Mr. Helberg asked about the range he had seen of $3 to $10 million, which had 
previously been brought up at a Selectmen’s meeting.  It was explained that while 
preliminary cost estimates have come in for the Riverwalk Park, they are subject to staff 
review and then revision by BETA before coming to the Committee.  The boring samples 
are an example of staff review that will result in a more accurate cost estimate.  Mr. Saben 
confirmed that the Committee does not have any figures to report and reminded Mr. 
Helberg that financing is not on the agenda, nor part of the Committee’s charge. 

 
2.  General: 
 

a. Regulatory Constraint Memo – Joe Freeman, BETA 
Ms. Williams explained that this analysis was included as part of BETA’s original Scope of 
Services.  She noted BETA’s conclusion that there is “no significant regulatory or site 
constraints that would preclude the redevelopment of the Drive-In site as a Riverwalk Park 
and the construction of an elevated Boardwalk across the parcel to the south of the Drive-In 
site to Seagull Beach.”  She noted that there will be extensive environmental review and 
permitting required for the Boardwalk.  It is possible that BETA could be retained to assist in 
the permitting process. 
 

b. Article 97  
 Ms. Greene reviewed her Memo dated December 5, 2017, summarizing Town Counsel’s 

opinion that Article 97 provisions apply to the Drive-In site, therefore the site is to be used 
for recreation.  Also, the Town must follow the disposition process of Article 97 in order to 
lease or sell a portion of the site; however, the property could be licensed for use.  Also 
included were the full  opinion of Town Counsel; the Town Meeting article and associated 
plan; and the Order of Taking.   The Committee also reviewed an email from Selectman 
Forest regarding funding, legal review, and interim uses. 

 
 Ms. Greene explained that Article 97 disposition provisions require a 2/3 vote of both Town 

Meeting and the State Legislature, and approval of the Executive Office of Environmental 
Affairs.  Mr. Reid added that the goal of Article 97 is preservation; the exception is to 
change the use.  Discussion about interim and long-term uses followed.  Mr. Reid noted the 
unique opportunity offered by 20 acres of public land in the center of town.   Staff is in the 
process of doing a complete site evaluation.  Director of Parks, Recreation, and Cemeteries 
Pat Armstrong noted that high-maintenance athletic fields are not necessary, and this 
location would benefit from outside-the-box, creative thinking.  Mr. Bilski suggested the 
interim use should be done correctly, including water, electricity, wifi, parking.  Ms. Williams 
will look into creating an informal grassed, irrigated area that can be used for festivals, 
events, etc.   

 
c. ULI-TAP Update 

 Ms. Greene reported that the Urban Land Institute project raised the idea of connecting the 
Rail Trail Bike Path to the Drive-In site.  There has been positive feedback, and the 
Committee may want to consider it in its report to Selectmen.  The ULI-TAP final report is 
due by the end of the year.    

 
3. Minutes: 
 

a. September 18, 2017 



 On __/__ /18, on a motion by ____________, seconded by ________, the committee voted 
____ to approve the minutes.  

 

 
Drive In Site Utilization Committee Minutes  December 7, 2017 

Page 3 of 3 

 VOTE: On a motion by Tom Roche, seconded by Jack McCormack, the Committee 
 voted 5-0 to approve the minutes as presented.  

 
4.   Upcoming Meetings:   
 

Chairman Saben asked to establish a regular meeting schedule.  Riverwalk Park cost 
estimates and the ULI-TAP final report should be available in January; additional 
information related to the bike path connection to the Drive-In will also be provided.     
 
Ms. Williams reported that the Parker’s River bridge project is scheduled to start after Labor 
Day, 2018.  It is currently awaiting MA DOT approvals, and is expected to take two years to 
complete.   

 
6.  Adjournment:  VOTE:  On a motion by Tom Roche, seconded by Jack McCormack, the 

Committee voted unanimously (5-0) to adjourn at 5:10 PM.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 December 7, 2017 Agenda 
 Draft Minutes of September 18, 2017 
 Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk Options 1, 2, 3 
 Riverwalk Park & Boardwalk Visualizations 
 Regulatory Constraints Memo from BETA, dated September 29, 2017  
 Article 97 Memo with attachments from Karen Greene, dated December 5, 2017  
 Email from Selectman Mark Forest, dated September 30, 2017 
 Meeting Schedule, dated December 7, 2017 


	012418 DISUC Agenda TC
	Riverwalk Park Cost Info Memo 011918
	Riverwalk Park Cost Info Memo ATTACHMENTS REV 012018
	Correspondence TBaron Concept
	DOC039
	DOC036
	DOC037
	DOC040

	120717 DISUC Minutes DRAFT
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



